6-15-98

FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 22 1997 ERK, SUFREME COURT C R. Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM STEWART STEELE,

Petitioner,

vs.

1.5- 3

TERRENCE E. KEHOE,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 92,950

INITIAL BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT

OF APPEAL'S CERTIFIED QUESTION IN STEELE V.

KEHOE, 23 FLW [D]771 (FLA. 5TH DCA 3/20/98).

Petitioner, <u>pro</u> se:

VILLIAM STEWART STEELE, DC#346856 Tomoka Correctional Institution 3950 Tiger Bay Road, ANH102 Daytona Beach, Florida 32124

Respondent, counsel: STEVEN G. MASON, P.A. 1643 Hillcrest Street Orlando, Florida 32803

⊬ i •

<u>

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Herein Petitioner, William Stewart Steele, the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal and Plaintiff in the Trial Court shall be referred to herein as Petitioner unless quoted from the record differently and Respondent, Terrence E. Kehoe, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal and Defendant in the Trial Court shall be referred to herein as Respondent unless quoted from the record differently. The Fifth District Court of Appeal will be referred to herein as the Lower Court and the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court will be referred to herein as the Trial Court.

The record will be reference to by the letter R from the Trial Court docketing index prepared for appeal; subsequent appellate briefs and opinions will be referenced to by their date and title respectively throughout herein. The 3/20/98 Rehearing Motion is referenced repeat edly herein and has been attached hereto as an appendix for easy locat ion by the parties on appeal

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Exceptional circumstances of this case and prior holdings warrant entertaining untimely motion for postconviction relief outside the two year limitation where delay was attributed to attorney negligence, state action, or situations beyond prisoner's control and due process and demands of justice require review be afforded under rights to access the Courts for redress, due process, and habeas corpus relief; whereafter, if successful, the prisoner may sue for damages if injury manifest for causation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged with and convicted of First Degree Murder in the Orange County Ninth Judicial Circuit Court whereafter the Honorable Alice Blackwell White, Circuit Judge, sentenced him to life in prison with a 25 year minimum mandatory term. Private counsel, Respondent was retained by Petitioner's mother in a joint contract to represent him on an appeal which affirmed the judgment and sentence in <u>Steele v.</u> <u>State</u>, 609 So.2d 50 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)(table case #91-1769). At no additional charge, and in addition to the contract, Respondent agreed to represent Petitioner in an unrelated battery appeal which was affirmed in <u>Steele v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 50 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)(table case #91-1845); R 11-12 & 37-39.

Prior to the murder appeal rehearing being denied Respondent came to the County Jail and advised Petitioner that, at no additional charge, he would prepare and file a post-conviction Rule 3.850 motion on his behalf. R 11 (T will meet with you in person to discuss what remedies are left). Over a two year period that followed Petitioner corresponded heavily with Respondent (R 13-26) and Respondent in return advised him that he had not forgotten about his case and would be getting with him to go over that matter. R 29-31. Petitioner was never advised of the actual date the mandate was issued.

Petitioner was given portions of the record from appeal which were missing substantial and crucial sections. R 9 & 10. As the time drew near Petitioner's mother--who paid Respondent's fee, and brother called Respondent's office over a two and ahalf month period trying to confirm that such post-conviction motion was being prepared and would be filed. R 32-36. Respondent on every occassion these calls were made was in and not available or not in and asked to return the call. Respondent did not return any calls and later maintained he "was under no duty to return those calls." R 70, at ¶ 5; p. 5 of 6/30/95 letter from Respondent. On December 9, 1994 Respondent mailed Petitioner the whole complete record from appeal and a letter claiming to never having agreed to file a motion for post-conviction relief. R 4, at aver. 15.

December 5, 1994 Rose Steele called the Orange County Courthouse to inquire of the date the mandate was issued and was informed it was December 11, 1992. Petitioner was advised by Rose Steele that the date of the mandate was December 11, 1992 on December 5, 1994 and he promptly prepared a motion for post#conviction relief with what record was available and filed the motion on December 12, 1994; the weekday after the two year deadline. 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit A.

The Mandate was issued on December 7, 1992 and stamped as being filed on December 11, 1992; the Courthouse personnel looked at the wrong date when inquiry was made by Rose Steele. 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit C. As a result the Trial Court denied the December 12, 1994 motion for post-conviction relief as being untimely which was affirmed by the Appellate Court in <u>Steele v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 1175 (5th DCA), rev. granted & relief den., <u>Steele v. Dausch</u>, 662 So.2d 343 (Fla. 1995).

Petitioner filed another motion for post-conviction relief which was denied as untimely and affirmed in <u>Steele v. State</u>, 671 So.2d 800 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). A Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging representation by Respondent on direct appeal from the Murder conviction and postconviction was filed and denied without opinion in <u>Steele v. State</u>, case no. 96-583 (Fla. 5th DCA 3/28/96). On July 8, 1996 Petitioner filed a

- viii -

Federal Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus directed at the Murder Conviction which is still pending in the Middle District Orlando Division United States District Court in <u>Steele v. Crosby, et al.</u>, case no. 96-754-CIV-ORL-18C.

Stemming from a May 25, 1995 dated Florida Bar Complaint against Respondent the Supreme Court of Florida Grievance Committee rendered a written reprimand with determinations that, while findings did not warrant formal discipline, his conduct was not condoned and advice was given for him to improve aspects of his professional activity. 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit F. These determinations and suggestions directly reflect upon Respondent's malpractice and thwarting Petitioner's intention to have a post-conviction motion filed in a timely manner. <u>Id.</u>

On December 28, 1995 Petitioner executed the Professional Malpractice Complaint giving rise to this action. R 1-39. Respondent and Petitioner briefed the issue (R40-59), oral arguments were scheduled (R 61-105), the matter was dismissed by the Trial Court (R 148-150) and a timely appeal followed. R 151-154. Respondent and Petitioner briefed the issues (11/8/96 Pet. Initial Brief, 1/2/97 Resp. Answer Brief, & 1/12/97 Reply Brief) before the Appellate Court rendered its opinion affirming the Trial Court's dismissal, issuing alternative relief of an evidentiary hearing on Repondent's extent of representation in the Rule 3.850 proceeding, and, if found to have been so representing, to reach the merits of a motion for post conviction relief outside the two year time limitation, the propriety of which was certified to this Court in <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 23 FLW [D]771 (Fla. 5th DCA 3/20/98).

- ix -

On December 15, 1997 <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, case no. 97-4018 (Fla. 2d DCA 12/15/97)(Unpublished opinion); 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit D, whereafter Petitioner invoked Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(j) and filed a Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging Respondent's representation and seeking as a relief granting of the writ entitling him to file and have heard a Rule 3.850 motion outside of the two year limitation. March 19, 1998 the Lower Court denied relief in <u>Steele v. State</u>, case no. 98-308 (Fla. 5th DCA 3/19/98), reconsideration denied April 20, 1998.

Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal toward the instant action and May 8, 1998 this court ordered a briefing schedule. While the certified question is presented by the Lower Court, Petitioner seeks relief from the style of relief granted and claims error in omissions of the Lower Court and erroneous conclusions of law inconsistent with the United States Supreme Court rulings based upon similar circumstances.

H− x -

<u>GROUND I</u>

ERRONEOUS EXONERATION PREREQUISITE TO LEGAL MAL-PRACTICE ACTION ARISING FROM CRIMINAL CONVICTION.

Drawing upon other States' authorities the Lower Court erroneously establishes exoneration as a prerequisite to a legal malpractice suit against an attorney when such representaion stems from a criminal conviction or prosecution. <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 23 FLW [D]771, at 772 (Fla. 5th DCA 3/20/98). This exoneration establishment is based upon inconsistent standards contrary to the United States Supreme Court decision in <u>Heck v. Humphrey</u>, 512 U.S. 477, at 489, 114 S.Ct. 2364, at 2372, 129 L.Ed.2d 383 (1994), which makes a prerequisite to suit that Petitioner "must prove that the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal authorized to make such determination, or called into question by a federal court's issuance of a writ of habeas corpus."

Situtations prevail where a negligent attorney pleads a client to a third degree felony and more than five years is imposed whereafter the client acquires relief from an illegal sentence after serving more than five years imprisonment. Where a client is guilty of a secondary offence yet convicted of a primary offense due to attorney negligence and the client corrects the conviction and lesser sentence is imposed and he has served additional years imprisoned than he should have. Under such circumstances the Lower Court's exoneration prerequisite would not allow a legal malpractice suit, but under <u>Heck v. Humphrey</u>, suit would be available. Therefore, the exoneration prerequisite must fail and comply with the United States Supreme Court's standard.

- 1 -

<u>GROUND II</u>

A STANDARD BASED UPON THE EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES PRESENTED SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED TO AFFORD DUE PROCESS AND PROTECT THE RIGHT TO COLLATERAL REVIEW BEYOND THE TWO YEAR LIMITATION OF RULE 3.850.

Petitioner maintains that under the exceptional circumstances presented below a standard should be established to hear Rule 3.850 claims beyond the two year limitation when justice and due process demand. This standard is already established and utilized by the Fourth District to hear belated Rule 3.850 appeals under <u>Hollingshead v. State</u>, 194 So.2d 577, at 578 (Fla. 1967), which provides:

> In certain exceptional circumstances when orderly appellate remedy has been rendered unavailable and an appeal within the period and in accordance with the procedure provided by law for appeals has not been afforded, yet justice demands appropriate remedy, we have held due steps must be taken to avoid deprivation of due process.

Accord, <u>Davis v. Singletary</u>, <u>So.2d</u> [23 FLW [D]506](Fla. 4th DCA 2/18/98) and <u>Offen v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 742 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Such a standard would be consistent with the United States Supreme Court opinion in <u>Fallen v. United States</u>, 378 U.S. 139, 144, 84 S.Ct. 1689, 1692-93, 12 L.Ed.2d 760 (1964) where belated proceedings are entertained when the prisoner has "done all that could reasonably be expected" under the circumstances. Adopted in <u>Houston v. Lack</u>, 487 U.S. 266, 108 S.Ct. 2378, 101 L.Ed.2d 245 (1988) and <u>Haag v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 614 (Fla. 1992).

The Lower Court limited the circumstance to attorney error only and thereby precluded the other exceptional circumstances implicated and

- 2 -

brought forth below by holding:

1

It is the defendant's right to have meaningful access to the judicial process that we urge is a due process right. If the defendant is denied the right to attack a presumptively valid criminal judgment because of counsel error and is instead limited to money damages because of an invalid conviction, he has been denied due process. <u>Id. Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 23 FLW [D] 771, at 773 n. 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 3/20/98)

Once such a remedy as post-conviction is granted, its operation must conform to the due process requirements of the 14th Amendment. See <u>Easter v. Endell</u>, 37 F.3d 1343, 1345 (8th Cir. 1994)(citing <u>Evitts v.</u> <u>Lucey</u>, 469 U.S. 387, 400-01, 105 S.Ct. 830, 838-39, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985)). The denial of a State to afford the Petitioner a full and fair hearing on his federal claims would violate due process under the circumstances presented below. <u>Keeney v. Tamayo-Reyes</u>, 504 U.S. 1, 10 n. 5, 112 S.Ct. 1715, 1720-21 n. 5, 118 L.Ed.2d 318 (1992); <u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u>, 410 U.S 284, 289-90 & n. 3, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 1043 & n. 3, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

In addition to the due process concerns there is the right to habeas corpus relief protected under Article I, § 13 of the Florida Constitution and Article I, § 9 of the United States Constitution which has been subplanted by Rule 3.850. After implementation of Rule 3.850 the right to challenge effectiveness of trial counsel under Constitutional standards under habeas corpus no longer exist. This concept is contrary to the concurring opinion of Justice Sharp in the Lower Court. <u>Steele</u>, 23 FLW at 773 (the rule did not replace habeas corpus).

The Second District, in <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, case no. 97-4018 (Fla. 2d DCA 12/15/97), found Johnson's Rule 3.850 to be a right as is

₩ 3 -

protected under the Florida and United States Constitutions for habeas corpus remedies:

Appellate counsel has agreed that petitioner did not receive timely notification of the affirmance of his conviction, and it is through no fault of petitioner that he <u>had been effectively</u> <u>denied his right to file a motion attacking his conviction pur-</u> <u>suant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850</u>. Id. 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit D (Unpublished opinion w/emhasis added).

This decision was premised upon the argument by Johnson, to wit:

The Florida Supreme Court, <u>State v. Bolyea</u>, 520 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1988), admitted that "Rule 3.850 is a procedural remedy otherwise available by writ of habeas corpus...", and in <u>Haag v.</u> <u>State</u>, 591 So.2d 614, 616 (Fla. 1992), the Court noted that "[they] must be mindful that the right to habeas relief protected by article 1, section 13... is implicated [in 3.850 cases]." Rule 3.850 was taken nearly word-for-word from the federal habeas corpus statute." <u>Id.</u> 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit E p. 6.

Therefore, the concept of protecting due process and habeas corpus entitlement as guaranteed under the Constitutions should prevail to the exceptional circumstances rendering Rule 3.850 motions inadequate or ineffective because of situations beyond the control of individual prisoners. See as suggested in <u>Steele</u>, 23 FLW at 773 (the use of habeas corpus in this situation is supported, if not authorized, by rule 3.850(h)), and implemented in <u>Davis</u> and <u>Offen</u> explained below under the <u>Hollings-</u> <u>head</u> standard. <u>Haag</u>, 591 So.2d at 616 (simplicity and fairness are equally promoted by the right to habeas relief that emanates from the Florida Constitution and has been partially embodied within Rule 3.850). Petitioner will present his own exceptional circumstances to promote re-

- 4 -

lief while evolving an acceptable standard for entertaining Rule 3.850 claims outside of the two year filing restraint within narrow perimeters inclusive of few cases:

A. RESPONDENT FRUSTRATED PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO COLLATERAL REMEDY.

The initial use of attorney negligence warranting issuance of a writ was established in <u>State v. Meyer</u>, 340 So.2d 440, 443 (Fla. 1983). This was subsequently applied in <u>Ward v. Dugger</u>, 508 So.2d 778-79 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) where an attorney frustrating a client's intention to file a motion for post-conviction relief in a timely manner by withholding records stated a preliminary based for relief in accepting an untimely Rule 3.850 motion. Next, the Court in <u>Johnson</u> found that counsel failure to notify of the mandate's issuance frustrated Johnson's right to file a motion attacking his conviction pursuant to Rule 3.850. See 3/25/98 Rehearing Motion, at exhibit D. Finally, we come to the instant case where the Lower Court found attorney negligence in failing to file a motion for post-conviction relief, if agreed to do so, would constutute hearing a belated Rule 3.850 motion outside the two year limitation. <u>Steele</u>, 23 FLW at 772.

The premise of the Lower Court was to punish the attorney and not the client who is helpless to control the situation his attorney has created: "should an attorney abuse the 3.850 process by not filing or improperly filing such motion in order to extend the time for reconsideration, severe penalties should follow." <u>Id.</u> This keeping is in harmony with the United States Supreme Court decision in <u>Evitts v.</u>

- 5 -

Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 399, 105 S.Ct. 830, 837, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985):

To the extent that a State believes its procedural rules are in jeopardy, numerous courses remain open. For example, a State may certainly enforce a vital procedural rule by imposing sanct ions against the attorney, rather than against the client. Such a course may well be more effective than the alternative of refusing to decide the merits of an appeal and will reduce the possibility that a defendant who was powerless to obey the rules will serve a term of years in jail on an unlawful conviction. If instead a state court chooses to dismiss an appeal when an incompetent attorney has violated local rules, it may do so if such action does not intrude upon the client's due process rights.

Applying this principle to the facts of this case is not without comparable authorities supporting relief on every aspect presented:

(i) FAILING TO TIMELY FILE SUCH A MOTION AS AGREED.

Petitioner's claim is that Respondent agreed to, but did not, file a motion for post-conviction relief. Supporting documentation was the numerous correspondences Petitioner sent to Respondent (R 13-26) and two correspondences from Respondent to Petitioner which provide in part:

> As for your murder conviction, I have not forgotten about it. It has been put on the back burner while some appeals and trials have taken precedence. I will be in touch with you as soon as possible concerning that matter. <u>Id.</u> R 29 (7/14/93 letter). I have not forgotten about your case. I am trying to clear a day in June so that I may come and visit you at Tomoka and discuss matters with you. When I know a day I will be available, I will contact your classification officer and request visitation. **Id.** R 30 (6/1/94 letter).

These letters can be interpreted only as meaning Respondent was

- 6 -

representing Petitioner in the Rule 3.850 proceeding since the direct appeal had been denied sometime in late 1992. Respondent's failure to prepare and timely file the Rule 3.850 motion, or respond to requests that he did not intend to prepare and file such a motion, frustrated Petitioner's intention to timely file the motion. "Even if a defendant is not necessarily entitled to appointed counsel, still if one is appointed for him or if he is able to obtain his own, he should be able to rely on such counsel's at least filing within the time period." <u>Steele</u>, 23 FLW at 772.

"Justice requires that some relief be provided. Therefore, the real issue before us now is what due process rights a convicted defendant has in post-conviction matters when he relies on his attorney to pursue remedies designed to prove his innocence and to obtain his freedom and the attorney fails to file within the limitation period." <u>Id.</u> Petitioner maintains that under the exceptional circumstances standard of <u>Hollingshead</u> coupled with the opinion of the Lower Court justice demands he be given an opportunity to prove his innocence via Rule 3.850 proceeding and then, if prevailing, to sue his attorney for the injury of imprisonment continued by virtue of Respondent's negligence.

(ii) WITHHOLDING RECORDS NECESSARY TO PREPARE A MEANINGFUL MOTION.

Petitioner was very clear in his claim that Respondent withheld the record on appeal and provided incomplete volumes excluding exhibits from the trial. R 2, at aver. 7. Respondent has never denied this fact pertaining the denial of the record on appeal. R 42-54. Two years

- 7 -

and two days after the mandate's issuance Respondent sent Petitioner the whole record on appeal. R 4, at aver. 15. This effectively frustrated Petitioner's good intention of filing a motion himself, aside from the fact that Respondent had agreed to file the motion for him.

Accordingly, as in <u>Ward</u>, Respondent's withholding of the complete record on appeal might entitle him to file a belated motion for postconviction relief if the actions of Respondent had frustrated his intentions to file such a motion in a timely manner. Petitioner did file a motion with what documents were available although the motion was not a meaningful motion by virtue of Respondent providing portions of the record missing crucial portions of key episodes during the trial process and all exhibits utilized to bring about the conviction.

B STATE ACTION CAUSED THE POST-CONVICTION MOTION TO BE FILED FOUR DAYS OUT OF TIME.

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