IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

04

JUN 29 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM STEWART STEELE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 92,950

v.

TERRENCE E. KEHOE,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN G. MASON LAW OFFICES OF STEVE G. MASON, P.A. 1643 E. Hillcrest Street Orlando, Florida 32803 407-895-6767 407-895-2090 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I.

JURISDICTION SHOULD BE DECLINED WHERE CASE DOES NOT. PRESENT ISSUE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

The issue before the Court is not one directly raised by this appeal. It is unnecessary to answer the certified question in order to fully and completely determine the correctness of the Fifth District's decision affirming the dismissal of a civil suit. Based on existing law, the Fifth District's affirmance was legally correct. This case, involving a civil complaint dismissed at the pleading stage, should not be used to determine an issue of potentially overriding importance and impact in the criminal law field.

II.

FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION MUST BE AFFIRMED WHERE MR. STEELE CANNOT MEET EXONERATION REQUIREMENT

Mr. Kehoe was Mr. Steele's appellate attorney in <u>Steele v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 50 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Mr. Steele was convicted of first degree murder and his sentence was affirmed <u>per</u> <u>curiam</u> by the Fifth District. Mr. Steele cannot maintain a malpractice cause of action where he is unable to allege or prove that he is innocent of the murder charge, or, in the alternative, that his capital conviction and sentence has been set aside. Additionally, the ramifications of allowing a convicted felon to seek redress via a legal malpractice claim (in lieu of following the rules in outlined in the applicable rules of criminal procedure) fly in the face of public policy, where the convict's damages, specifically his criminal conviction, are entirely attributable to his own criminal conduct.

MR. STEELE HAS NO RIGHT TO HEARING ON EFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL ON COLLATERAL ATTACK

This Court, and the United States Supreme Court, have made clear that there is no right to assistance of counsel in post-conviction proceedings, such as a Rule 3.850 proceeding. As there is no right to assistance of counsel, there can be no claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in such a proceeding. Therefore, Mr. Steele is not entitled to a hearing to determine if Mr. Kehoe agreed to, and failed to, file a Rule 3.850 motion on his behalf. Also, in the context of this civil case, the Court cannot fashion such a remedy.

ARGUMENTS

I.

JURISDICTION SHOULD BE DECLINED WHERE CASE DOES NOT PRESENT ISSUE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

This case started out as civil complaint between a client and his previous attorney. The complaint, styled as a malpractice action, actually alleged multiple theories such as breach of contract (R1/2, \P 6) and fraud (R1/ \P 17) under one umbrella in an effort to create some sort of a cause of action where one did not exist. The circuit court treated it as a standard civil complaint, and dismissed it for failure to state a cause of action. However, the Fifth District took a simple appeal, where the issue was whether or not the trial court erred in dismissing Mr. Steele's complaint, and added new, unnecessary issues. Although it affirmed the trial court's dismissal, the Fifth District, in fact, spent very little time discussing that central issue and, instead, created new issues on appeal. In the Fifth District both parties had briefed the sufficiency of the complaint issue. Neither party had briefed any issues concerning the application of Lambrix v. State, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996), Mr. Steele's right to pursue relief by a petition for writ of habeas corpus, or other such issues discussed by the Fifth District.

It is obvious that the issue certified to be of great importance is collateral to the issue of the sufficiency of the complaint to state a cause of action. It is the Fifth District's "issue," not Mr. Steele's. In effect, the Fifth District is not asking this Court to decide whether or not it is correct in affirming the trial court's order dismissing Mr. Steele's complaint. It wants this Court to create a new remedy in criminal cases whereby defendants who allege that their post-conviction attorney rendered ineffective assistance have some avenue of relief in the criminal court system.

Usually certified questions present issues which will resolve the merits of the underlying dispute. The crux of the underlying dispute before the Court in this case is whether or not the trial court correctly dismissed Mr. Steele's complaint, and whether the Fifth District correctly affirmed that dismissal. The Court, as the Fifth District did, can answer those questions without addressing the certified question. Indeed, the answer to that overriding question is not dependent upon the certified question. Whether the Court answered yes or no to the certified question, the overriding issue is still the sufficiency of Mr. Steele's complaint, not whether he is entitled to some newly fashioned remedy in criminal court.

Additionally, the issue that the Fifth District has certified to this Court has been squarely addressed by this Court and the United States Supreme Court (see Argument III, <u>infra</u>, pp. 22-26). While the Fifth District majority may not like the status of that law, there is no reason to consider the Fifth District's attack on that settled law to be an issue of great public importance.

For these reasons, this Court should simply decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this matter.

П.

FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION MUST BE AFFIRMED WHERE MR. STEELE CANNOT MEET EXONERATION REQUIREMENT (STEELE'S ARGUMENT I)

A. MR. STEELE'S ARGUMENT

2

In his "summary of argument," Mr. Steele seemingly concedes he is not entitled to pursue a malpractice suit at this point. Mr. Steele asserts he is entitled to relief, and ". . . whereafter, if successful, the prisoner may sue for damages if injury manifest for causation." (IB vi).

11

In his brief, Mr. Steele makes a one page argument that the Fifth District erred in following the general rule that exoneration is a prerequisite to a legal malpractice suit arising from a criminal conviction (IB 1). The sole authority relied upon by Mr. Steele is <u>Heck v.</u> <u>Humphrey</u>, 512 U.S. 477, 114 S.Ct. 2364, 129 L.Ed.2d 383 (1994). <u>Heck</u> was a suit against prosecutors and police brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the federal civil rights law. <u>Heck</u>, however, does not support Mr. Steele's position. The Supreme Court held in <u>Heck</u> that in order to recover damages for an allegedly unconstitutional conviction or imprisonment, or further harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness would render a conviction or sentence invalid, a § 1983 plaintiff must prove that the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct appeal, expunged by an executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal authorized to make such a determination, or called in to question by federal court's issuance of a writ a habeas corpus. Further, a claim for damages bearing that relationship to a conviction or sentence that has not been so invalidated is not cognizable under § 1983. 114 S.Ct. at 2369-74.

This same issue, again in the context of a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim, was recently addressed by the Eighth Circuit in <u>Williams v. Schario</u>, 93 F.3d 527 (8th Cir. 1996). There, Mr. Williams filed suit against several police officers claiming that (inter alia) he was arrested without probable cause. The Eighth Circuit held that the claim could not stand until his conviction had been successfully challenged.

> We agree with the district court that a judgment in Williams's favor on his damages claim that defendants engaged in malicious prosecution and presented perjured testimony would "necessarily imply the invalidity of his conviction or sentence"; therefore, Williams's claims are **not cognizable and must be dismissed unless and until** Williams shows his "conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal authorized to

make such determination, or called into question by federal court's issuance of a writ of habeas corpus."

¢

Id. at 529, citing <u>Heck</u> (emphasis added). <u>See also Hill v. Hopper</u>, 112 F.3d 1088 (11th Cir. 1997)(§ 1983 cannot be used to circumvent federal habeas corpus rules).

Mr. Steele poses a hypothetical in which a defendant is rightly convicted, but wrongly sentenced to a term beyond the statutory maximum (IB 1). Mr. Steele asserts that upon vacation of the illegal sentence, had the prisoner served time beyond the statutory maximum, he would have a cause of action under <u>Heck</u> against the attorney even though he has not been exonerated in full. The Court need not address Mr. Steele's hypothetical, since it is far afield from the facts of this case. Mr. Steele was convicted and given a legal sentence for the crime of murder in the first degree. He makes no contention that he is guilty but somehow serving an illegal sentence. The bottom line is that the principles applied in <u>Heck</u> would preclude Mr. Steele's lawsuit against Mr. Kehoe, because neither the conviction or sentence have been reversed, expunged, declared invalid, or called into question by any lawful body.

B. LEGAL MALPRACTICE - FAILURE TO ALLEGE CAUSATION

In order to pursue a legal malpractice claim Mr. Steele must allege that 1) attorney Kehoe owed him a duty, 2) attorney Kehoe breached that duty, and 3) an injury resulted from that breach of duty and the breach of duty was the proximate cause of the injury. <u>Bolves v.</u> <u>Hullinger</u>, 629 So.2d 198 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); <u>Weiner v. Moreno</u>, 271 So.2d 217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). As <u>Bolves</u> explained, in order for the ex-client to be successful in a malpractice suit against his ex-attorney, the ex-client must prove that, but for the attorney's malpractice, the ex-client would not have suffered an injury. 629 So.2d at 200.

In Mr. Steele's case, Mr. Steele suit was dismissed because he failed to allege and plead

element one, the duty requirement, and failed to allege/show that he is innocent of the murder charge. Additionally, Mr. Steele could not allege that an injury resulted from Mr. Kehoe's actions or that the injury was an proximate cause of Mr. Kehoe's actions, since Mr. Kehoe did not cause his conviction or his incarceration.

The alleged injury in this case was that Mr. Steele was convicted of murder in the first degree. That predated Mr. Kehoe's representation of Mr. Steele. Since Mr. Steele's own actions are the proximate cause of his injury, Mr. Steele's claim must fail as a matter of law. Both <u>Weiner</u> and <u>Bolves</u> mandate this result since any injury Mr. Steele suffered was the direct and proximate result of his own criminal activities, and not any conduct on Mr. Kehoe's part. <u>See e.g., Orr v. Black & Furci, P.A.</u>, 876 F.Supp. 1270 (M.D.Fla. 1995); <u>Streeter v. Young</u>, 583 So.2d 1339 (Ala. 1991).

C. PUBLIC POLICY PRECLUDES MALPRACTICE CLAIM BY A CONVICTED MURDERER AGAINST ATTORNEY

While a plain reading of <u>Weiner</u> and <u>Bolves</u> clearly requires this Court affirm the dismissal order in favor of the attorney, Mr. Kehoe advances an additional basis for the affirmance. The reasoning of <u>Weiner</u> and <u>Bolves</u>, as well as the public policy of Florida, require that in order for Mr. Steele's allegation to survive a motion to dismiss, he must show that he is innocent of the criminal charge and that he has successfully availed himself of either the appellate or collateral attacked avenues allowed by Florida law. Since Mr. Steele is not innocent of the crime, nor has he had his conviction overturned, Mr. Kehoe was entitled to dismissal.

As Judge Harris stated in <u>Steele</u>, there is logical support for holding that exoneration is a prerequisite to a legal malpractice action arising from a criminal prosecution. First, criminal procedure provides a remedy for ineffective assistance of counsel. Judicial economy will be best served if we permit the criminal court to determine the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel. If the court should determine that the attorney's representation, even if sub-par, did not affect the result of the criminal trial then a subsequent malpractice action should not lie. Second, public policy should recognize that unless a defendant is exonerated, the proximate cause of the defendant's conviction is his or her commission of a crime and not legal malpractice. Third, and most important, unless exoneration is accomplished, a legal malpractice action would be an inadequate remedy.

2

23 Fla. L. Weekly at D772. <u>See also Turner v. Anderson</u>, 704 So.2d 748 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (public policy would preclude client from recovering on legal malpractice claim against attorney where client's misconduct was equally at fault).

While no Florida appellate court has specifically interpreted Florida law as requiring the additional element that the plaintiff have his conviction overturned, several other state's supreme courts have reached such a conclusion.^{3/} Based on Florida public policy considerations and the reasoning advanced by these other courts that have addressed this issue, this Court should affirm the dismissal order on the basis that Mr. Steele cannot prove his innocence, nor prove that his conviction has been set aside.

One of the leading cases is <u>Stevens v. Bispham</u>, 851 P.2d 556 (Or. 1993). In <u>Stevens</u>, the Oregon Supreme Court examined a factual scenario analogous to this case. A criminal defendant pled no contest to criminal charges and at the plea, the defendant acknowledged that

^{3/} In May, 1998, the American Law Institute approved its Restatement of the Law Governing Lawyers. In one part of the Restatement, the American Law Institute adopted the position that a criminal defense client who has been convicted must obtain post-conviction relief as a prerequisite to bringing a malpractice action against his former defense attorney.

he was satisfied with his attorney's services. Later the defendant sued the attorney alleging malpractice.

In Oregon the elements of a malpractice claim are similar to those in Florida. <u>Stevens</u>, 851 P.2d at 560. In concluding that prior to bringing a malpractice claim, a criminal defendant <u>must</u> gain exoneration of the criminal offense, the Oregon Supreme Court provided a comprehensive and enlightening analysis.

> Legal malpractice is a common law tort claim. In the absence of any pertinent legislation, it is for this court to define what constitutes legally cognizable harm in a tort case. The legislature has not addressed directly the question of when a person whose lawyer in a criminal case is guilty of professional negligence has been harmed for the purposes of a professional negligent action; this court therefor must do so. However, the failure of the legislature to address the specific question does not mean that the legislature had not provided general policy guidance bearing on our decision.

> We refer to "policy" because the choice of what constitutes legally cognizable harm is a policy choice. In this case, the specific policy choice to be made is the following:

> When is a person who had been convicted of a criminal offense deemed to have been "harmed" by any negligence of defense counsel that the person alleges contributed to the person's conviction? In our view, the answer to that question is informed by the comprehensive legislative scheme that constitutes the substantive and procedural criminal law in Oregon.

> Persons accused of criminal offenses in Oregon are afforded a wide range of procedural protections, many of which are derived from requirements of the Oregon and United States Constitution. For example, one accused of a criminal offense is entitled to be represented by counsel, ORS 135.040, to be informed of the charge against the person, ORS 135.020, to be admitted to bail, ORS 135.230 *et seq.*, to have reciprocal discovery of pertinent information, ORS 135.805 *et seq.*, to be tried by a jury, ORS 136.001, and to have each element of the charge proved beyond

a reasonable doubt, ORS 136.415. After a conviction, the person is entitled to have a pre-sentence investigation to determine an appropriate sanction, ORS 137.077, to be represented by counsel throughout the sentencing proceeding, ORS 137.071(4) (by implication), and to be heard personally before any sentence is passed. Or. Const., Art. I, Section 11. Following sentencing, the person is entitled to take an appeal, ORS 138.020 and 138.040 and to be represented by counsel on appeal, ORS 138.480 *et seq*. Finally, with all other avenues of relief exhausted, the person is entitled to attack collaterally the conviction and sentence under Oregon's post-conviction relief law, ORS 138.510 *et seq*. on the ground, inter alia, that the person's counsel did not provide constitutionally adequate representation at trial or on appeal ORS 138.530(1)(a).

2

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